IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALD D. MURRAY,)		
Appellant,)		
vs.) CASE	NO.:	95,470
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
Appellee.)		

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD R. KURITZ, ESQUIRE STATE BAR NO.: 972540 503 EAST MONROE STREET JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32202 PHONE: (904) 355-1999

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 95,470

GERALD D. MURRAY,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Gerald D. Murray, will be referred to herein by name, as "Defendant" or as "Appellant." Appellee, State of Florida, will be referred to herein as the "State" or "Appellee." References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R", reference to the transcripts will by the symbol "T" and reference to relevant volume and page set forth in brackets. Example, (Vol. I, 1).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
TABLE OF CITATIONS
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS
POINTS OF APPEAL
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ISSUE I
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE ADMISSION
OF HAIR EVIDENCE RELATING TO SLIDE Q42, DESPITE
INDICATIONS OF PROBABLE TAMPERING OR ALTERING.
ISSUE II
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE
ADMISSION OF HAIR EVIDENCE RELATING TO
SLIDE Q20, DESPITE INDICATIONS OF PROBABLE
TAMPERING OR ALTERING.
ISSUE III
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PRECLUDING DEFENDANT
FROM INTRODUCING EVIDENCE OF POTENTIAL WITNESS
TAMPERING ON THE PART OF THE STATE'S EXPERT
WITNESS, AT THE FRYE HEARING, AS WELL AS BY
PRECLUDING THE DEFENSE FROM CROSS-EXAMINING THE
STATE'S WITNESS ON THE ISSUE AT TRIAL.
ISSUE IV
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING RESULTS OF
DNA TESTING OVER REDEATED OBJECTIONS OF DEFENSE

COUNSEL, WHEN ACCEPTED DNA TESTING PROCEDURES
WERE GROSSLY VIOLATED, RENDERING THE SUBJECT DNA
ANALYSIS NOT IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS
OF FRYE V. UNITED STATES.
ISSUE V
THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY
ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE REGARDING
MR. MURRAY'S COLLATERAL CRIMES TO DEMONSTRATE BAD
CHARACTER OR PROPENSITY TO COMMIT BAD ACTS.
ISSUE VI
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION
TO EXCLUDE ANY AND ALL HAIR EVIDENCE DUE TO ITS
DESTRUCTION BY THE STATE OF FLORIDA.
ISSUE VII
THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT GERALD
MURRAY OF THE OFFENSES CHARGED.
ISSUE VIII
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION
TO COMPEL NAMES OF ATTORNEYS INVOLVED IN DNA CASES
ANALYZED ON GEL LOADING WORKSHEET.
ISSUE IX
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION
TO SUPPRESS DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS.
CONCLUSION 100

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>Cases</u> <u>Pape(s)</u>
<u>Armbruster v. State</u> , 453 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1984) 14
<u>Brim v. State</u> , 695 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1997)
85
<u>Castro v. State</u> , 547 So. 2d 111, 114 (Fla. 1989) 87
88, 89
<u>Ciccarelli v. State</u> , 531 So. 2d 129 132 (Fla. 1988) 89
<u>Coxwell v. State</u> , 361 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 1978)
<pre>Cridland v. State, 693 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) 21</pre>
22
<u>Cyubak v. State</u> , 570 So. 925, 928 (Fla. 1990)
88
<u>Dodd v. State</u> . 537 So. 626 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1989)
<u>Frye v. United States</u> , 293 F. 1013, 1014 (D.C. Cir. 1923) 7
10, 11, 12, 28, 29, 32, 33, 43, 48, 52, 73, 77, 78, 79, 83, 84, 85
<u>Garcia v. State</u> , 721 So. 2d 1248 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1998)
<u>Hair v. State</u> , 428 So. 2d 965, 966 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 1982) 29
<u>Hall v. State</u> , 403 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 1981)
<u>Hayes v. State</u> , 660 So. 2d 218, 220 (Fla. 1995)
66, 67, 77, 78, 79, 80, 82
<u>Heiney v. State</u> , 477 So. 2d 210,213 (Fla. 1984)
<u>Helton v. State</u> , 424 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1982) 14
<u>Henyard v. State</u> , 689 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1996) 81
82
<u>Hortsman v. State</u> , 530 So. 2d 368, 370 (Fla. 1988) 94
Jackson v. State. 403 So. 2d 1063 (Fla 4^{th} DCA 1981)

<u>Lindsey v. People</u> , 892 P. 2d 281 (Colo. 1995)
<pre>Mendez v. State, 412 So. 2d 965, 966 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982)29</pre>
<pre>Murray v. State, 692 So. 2d 157, 160 (Fla. 1997)</pre>
16, 28, 33, 82, 84, 97, 99
<u>Owen v. State</u> , 432 So. 2d 579, 581 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 1983) 94
<u>Paul v. State</u> , 340 So. 2d 1249, 1250 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1976)89
<u>Peek v. State</u> , 395 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 1981)
78, 88
<u>Ruffin v. State</u> , 397 So. 2d 277, 279 (Fla. 1981) 87
<u>State v. DiGuilio</u> , 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) 89
<u>State v. Norris</u> , 168 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1964)
<u>Straight v. State</u> , 397 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1981)
<u>Taylor v. State</u> , 630 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1993)
97
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959)
89
<u>Wood v. State</u> , 654 So. 2d 218, 220 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1995)

Statutes and Rules Page(S)
Section 90.403, <u>Fla. Stat</u> . (1999)
Section 90.404(2)(a), <u>Fla. Stat</u> . (1999)
Section 918.13, <u>Fla. Stat</u> . (1999)
<u>Miscellaneous</u>
<pre>Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence Section 608.5(2000) pg. 457 30</pre>
Nat'l Academy Press 1996, <u>DNA Technology in Forensic Science</u> , pg.
70 Nat'l Research Council
36, 37, 38, 62, 80

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 15, 1990, the Appellant/Defendant, Gerald Murray, and his neighbor, James Fisher, picked up Steven Taylor and drove to the Corner Pocket on San Jose Boulevard in Jacksonville, Florida. (Vol.30, P.730-734). Afterwards, Mr. Fisher dropped off Mr. Murray and Mr. Taylor at the corner of Deeder and Herdon Streets, near Mr. Murray's home. (Vol.30, P.735-740).

On September 16, 1990, the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office was contacted after neighbors of Ms. Vest had found her dead in her mobile home, which was uncharacteristically in disarray. (Vol.28, P.481-483). Jacksonville Sheriff's Office evidence technicians took photographs and collected physical evidence on September 16 and 18, 1990. (Vol.28, P.505-507). At the scene of the alleged crime, pruning shears were found lying beneath cut telephone wires. (Vol.28, P.509). Ms. Vest was found lying on her bed with a wire or cord wrapped around her neck. (Vol.28, P.510-511). She had slice wounds and puncture wounds about her upper body. (Vol.28, P.511). Other evidence seized from Ms. Vest's bedroom included a metal bar, a broken bottle, a paring knife, a brass candelabra, a pair of scissors and a web belt. (Vol.28, P.512,513,540-543).

At Trial Jacksonville Sheriff Officer Laforte testified that he collected a bottle of hand lotion and a white garment (nightie, rag) from the sink of the master bathroom and placed both items in a paper bag, and sealed it with evidence tape. LaForte testified that because he found the items together, he wanted to keep together for continuity. (Vol. 29, P.560). LaForte also testified

that the lotion bottle were placed in the same paper bag, and not a plastic bag, because plastic promotes the growth of mold and mildew and destroys evidence. (Vol.29, P.584).

Evidence Technician Chase testified at trial that he collected two hairs from the body of the deceased. He packaged them together and sealed the bag. (Vol.30, P.718-722).

Approximately five months later, on February 15, Detective T.C. O'Steen contacted Assistant State Attorney Bernardo de la Rionda to obtain a search warrant regarding Mr. Murray. (Vol.30, P.853-855). Detective O'Steen's affidavit, in regard to Mr. Murray, stated that Mr. Murray, with James Fisher, picked up Steve N. Taylor at a house where a pendant and English gold coin were found buried in the backyard. (Vol.30, P.820-822). The pendant and coin were alleged to have been missing from Ms. Vest's home. (Vol.30, P.820-822). Also, Detective O'Steen stated in his affidavit that Mr. Murray and Steven Taylor left town a few days after Ms. Vest's death. (Vol.30, P.820-822). Detective O'Steen requested approval to take blood and saliva samples of Mr. Murray. (Vol.30, P.820-822). Circuit Judge Santora issued the search warrant permitting the taking of blood, saliva, and hair samples. (Vol.30, P.820-822).

Subsequently, on February 15, 1991, Mr. Murray, who was incarcerated at Montgomery Correctional Center on an unrelated offense, was transported to the Police Memorial Building where he was questioned by Jacksonville Sheriff's Office personnel. (Vol.30, P.855-857). Detective O'Steen requested Mr. Murray's

consent for blood, saliva, and hair samples. (Vol.30. P.855-857). According to the detective, Mr. Murray acquiesced. (Vol.30, P.855-857). Mr. Murray was taken to the clinic of the Duval County Jail whereupon Mr. Murray learned that samples were to be taken. (Vol.30, P.855-857). Mr. Murray asked to see a search warrant which Detective O'Steen produced, at which point the samples were taken. (Vol.30, P.851-857). Blood, saliva and hair samples were all collected. (Vol.30, P.855-857). Detective O'Steen later testified that he had received consent and a search warrant prior to collecting the samples. (Vol.30, P.855-857).

On December 9, 1998, Mr. Murray moved to exclude novel scientific evidence in the form of DNA testing on his hair samples. (R. 595-598). The trial court denied that motion at trial.

Mr. Murray also moved on October 15, 1998, to exclude the testimony of Joseph A. Dizinno, a hair and fiber examination expert, on the basis that his comparison of Mr. Murray's hairs to hairs found at the crime scene was irrelevant, as it failed to determine any degree of probability or certainty. (Vol. 3, P.580). The trial court likewise denied this motion.

At trial, during the State's presentation of its case, Dr. Bonafacio Floro testified as an expert that Ms. Vest's death was a homicide caused by ligature strangulation and multiple stab wounds. (Vol. 29, P.615). Dr. Floro testified that Ms. Vest had bruising and abrasions on her breast and stab wounds on her chest, abdomen, back and thigh. (Vol. 29, P. 616). Dr. Floro stated that, in his opinion, the stab wounds were inflicted before the strangulation.

(Vol. 29, P.647). Ms. Vest had a lacerated and broken jaw consistent with being hit with a broken bottle neck. (Vol. 29, P.649-651). Dr. Floro, upon being given a hypothetical by the State, also stated that the evidence was consistent with Ms. Vest having been strangled with three objects; a web belt, a leather belt and a cord. (Vol. 29, P.649-651). Upon cross-examination, Dr. Floro was unsure as to how many individuals participated in the strangling. While he had testified at a previous trial that only one knife was utilized, at this trial he indicated scissors were used as well. (Vol.29, P.651)(Vol.30, P.700-701). Dr. Floro also testified that Ms. Vest suffered no defensive wounds, and that the medical evidence was consistent with her having been unconscious from near the outset of her attack. (Vol.29, P.693).

John Wilson, a crime laboratory analyst with FDLE, testified that no identifiable fingerprints were found of Mr. Murray on any of the evidence seized. (Vol. 31, P.883).

The State called Diane Hanson, a forensic serologist with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (Vol. 31, 948-949). She stated that seminal stains found on the victim's blouse and bed comforter were consistent with Steven Taylor but not with Mr. Murray. (Vol. 31, 952,966,967). Hanson testified that when she received the bag that contained the "white garment" she did not open it. (Vol. 31, 968) She marked the bag and forwarded it to Katherine Warniment. Hanson testified that when she received the "white garment" back from Warniment she tested it for blood and seminal stains and that neither were identified. Indeed, Mr. Murray

was eliminated as a donor of all blood and semen samplings found by Ms. Hanson. (Vol.31, P.968, 971-973).

Katherine Warniment in the micro-analysis section of F.D.L.E. testified that on October 16, 1990, Dianne Hanson delivered six sealed items to her section. One of the six sealed items contained It was in a folded, stapled, sealed brown the "white garment". paper baq. When Hanson opened the sealed bag there was no bottle of lotion inside. She never received a lotion bottle. (Vol.31, P.902-906,918-919). When Hanson opened the sealed bag containing the white garment that Evidence Technician, LaForte had packaged, the garment was inside a plastic bag within the paper bag. Hanson inspected the white garment for the presence of trace evidence. Hair was discovered on the garment and those hairs were later forwarded for testing.

Joseph Dizinno, a hair and fiber expert for testified, over objection, that a caucasian pubic hair found on the body of the victim had the same microscopic characteristics as the pubic hair of Mr. Murray. (Vol.32, P.1053-1055). Defense counsel objected on the basis that Mr. Dizinno had found more than two hairs in the evidence slide although the evidence technician who had seized the hairs only obtained two. (Vol.32, P.1001-1015). Mr. Dizinno did not count the hairs, but based on his notes he received between five and twenty-one hairs. Dizinno stated that the Mr. comparison of hair did not reveal absolute positive an identification. (Vol.32, P.1055). Mr. Dizinno could not discount the possibility that the hair from the crime scene could have come from someone other than Mr. Murray. (Vol.32, P.1055).

The hair allegedly recovered from the white garment was sent to an unaccredited laboratory, Microdiagnostics, for DNA analysis. Mr. Deguglielmo, the laboratory director testified that the DNA testing showed the presence of a mixture consistent with that of Vest and Murray. (R.3330).

Anthony Smith, an inmate in the Duval County Jail, who escaped with Mr. Murray on November 22, 1992, testified for the State that Mr. Murray stated he and a friend went to rob a house, had sexual intercourse with the female occupant, stabbed and strangled the woman, and subsequently gathered valuables and left. (Vol.36, P.1645-1648). In exchange for that testimony, the State of Florida waived the death penalty. Mr. Smith pled guilty to first degree murder and was sentenced to life imprisonment with a minimummandatory of 25 years. (Vol.36, P.1651).

Following the State's presentation of its case, Mr. Murray through defense counsel, moved for a judgment of acquittal. (Vol.37, P.1750-1756). The motion was denied and the defense began its case. (Vol.37, P.1756-1759).

The defense called Joseph Warren, the laboratory analyst who actually conducted the DNA testing in this case. Mr. Warren was employed by Microdiagnostics as a Laboratory Supervisor and Forensic Scientist (R.4054). Mr. Warren testified at the Frye, hearing that the results from the DNA testing should be deemed inconclusive (R4071). Mr. Warren, stated there were three very good reasons for concluding that the testing was inconclusive.

(R4074). Mr. Warren stated that it was embarrassing for him to have to testify about all of the errors he made during the DNA testing in this case. (R.4085). The Microdiagnostics laboratory was not accredited, and was extremely busy at the time of the testing because of a contract with the State of Wisconsin. (R.4086).

Dr. Howard Baum, the Assistant Director of the Forensic Biology Department in the medical examiner's office in New York City was called by the defense. (R. 4164). Dr. Baum testified that Microdiagnostics, through Joseph Warren and Mr. Deguglielmo violated the: NRC recommendations (R.4181) Microdiagnostic's own protocol (R.4233-4247), Perkin Elmer, the manufacturer's directions for the DNA testing kit (R.4255), TWGDAM's guidelines, and the FBI protocol. (R.3904-05).

Dr. Baum testified that if the analyst who performed the test believed that the test should be deemed inconclusive, it should be deemed inconclusive, because that person conducted the test. Additionally, he testified that the opinion of the actual analyst should be given a lot of weight. (R.4260).

On February 12, 1999 after resting, defense counsel again moved for judgment of acquittal, which was denied. (Vol.39, P.2210-2213). The State and defense counsel made their closing arguments in the guilt phase. (Vol.41, P.2296-2412). The Trial Court instructed the jury. (Vol.41, P.2413-2451). On February 12, 1999, the jury found Mr. Murray guilty of murder in the first degree, burglary, and sexual battery. (Vol.41, P.2452).

On February 22, 1999, Mr. Murray filed a motion for new trial.

(Vol.7, P.1236-1242). That motion was denied. (Vol.7, P.1243). On March 8, 1999, the penalty phase of this case began. (Vol.7, P.1246). On February 26,1999 the jury returned a recommendation of death. (Vol. 7, P.1250). On March 19, 1999 the Trial Judge sentenced Defendant to death. (Vol. 7, P.1289-1320).

Mr. Murray timely filed his notice of appeal on April 16, 1999. (Vol. 7, P.1327). Undersigned appellate counsel was appointed on date needed). This appeal follows.

POINTS ON APPEAL

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE ADMISSION OF HAIR EVIDENCE RELATING TO SLIDE Q42, DESPITE INDICATIONS OF PROBABLE TAMPERING OR ALTERING.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE ADMISSION OF HAIR EVIDENCE RELATING TO SLIDE Q20, DESPITE INDICATIONS OF PROBABLE TAMPERING OR ALTERING.

III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PRECLUDING DEFENDANT FROM INTRODUCING EVIDENCE OF POTENTIAL WITNESS TAMPERING BY THE STATE'S EXPERT WITNESS. AT THE FRYE HEARING AS WELL AS BY PRECLUDING THE DEFENSE FROM CROSS-EXAMINING THE STATES WITNESS ON THE ISSUE.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF DNA TESTING OVER REPEATED OBJECTIONS OF DEFENSE COUNSEL, WHEN ACCEPTED DNA TESTING PROCEDURES WERE GROSSLY VIOLATED, RENDERING THE SUBJECT DNA ANALYSIS NOT IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF FRYE V. UNITED STATES.

v.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE REGARDING MR. MURRAY'S COLLATERAL CRIMES TO SHOW BAD CHARACTER OR PROPENSITY TO COMMIT BAD ACTS.

VI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO EXCLUDE ANY AND ALL HAIR EVIDENCE DUE TO ITS DESTRUCTION BY THE STATE OF FLORIDA IN VIOLATION OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER.

VII.

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT GERALD MURRAY OF THE OFFENSES CHARGED.

VIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO COMPEL NAMES OF ATTORNEYS INVOLVED IN DNA CASES ANALYZED ON GEL LOADING WORKSHEET.

IX.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- The Trial Court erred by permitting the admission of hair evidence relating to slide Q42, despite indications of probable tampering or altering.
- The Trial Court erred by permitting the Admission of hair evidence relating to slide Q20, despite indications of probable tampering or altering.
- 3. The Trial Court erred in precluding Defendant from introducing evidence of potential Witness tampering by the State's expert Witness, at the Frye hearing as well as by precluding the defense from cross-examining the State's witness on the issue at Trial.
- 4. The Trial Court erred in admitting evidence of DNA testing over repeated objections of defense counsel, when accepted DNA testing procedures in the scientific community were grossly violated, rendering the subject DNA analysis not in compliance with the requirements of Fryevolume. United States, 293 F. 1013, 1014 (D.C. Cir. 1923).
- 5. The Trial Court committed reversible error by allowing the State to introduce evidence regarding Mr. Murray's collateral crimes to demonstrate bad character or propensity to commit bad acts.
- 6. The Trial Court erred in denying Defendant's motion to exclude any and all hair evidence due to its destruction

by the State of Florida. At the prior trial court, Honorable Judge Stetson, stated on the Record on August 27, 1997 "Okay we have addressed this previously. The Court Ordered, at the request of the Defendant, that the State require the expert that he uses as little of it as reasonably possible and try to preserve whatever surplus may remain."

- 7. The evidence was insufficient to convict Gerald Murray of the offenses charged.
- 8. The Trial Court erred when it denied Defendant's Motion to Compel names of attorneys. On January 12, 1999, Defendant filed a Motion to Compel Names of Attorneys involved in DNA cases analyzed on gel loading worksheet 97-279. (R. 715).
- 9. The Trial Court erred when it adopted the prior Court's rulings denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Defendant's statements. The statements stem from an interview with the lead Detective, T.C. O'Steen and Murray. During that interview Murray was told that DNA found at the scene matched him. That DNA was later ruled inadmissible by this Court in Murray v. State, 692 So. 2d 157, (Fla. 1997).

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE ADMISSION OF HAIR EVIDENCE RELATING TO SLIDE Q42, DESPITE INDICATIONS OF PROBABLE TAMPERING OR ALTERING.

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