IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALD D. MURRAY,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 95,470

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

contamination. Moreover, contrary to appellant's claim regarding "missing" photographs, picture of the results were taken with a digital camera. As the expert testified, there is no need to take photographs if you take digital images instead. (V. 18 3378). No picture of gel no. 97-262 was taken because it was broken during processing and the material was transferred to another gel plate that a picture was taken of. Thus, the scivenener's errors and other deviations from the protocols did not affect the underlying reliability of the tests.

<u>Harmless error</u>

Because three different types of PCR DNA testing were performed DQ-alpha; polymarkers, and short tandem repeats (STR), any error in one test is rendered harmless by the results in the other DNA tests. There would have to be fatal flaws in all three tests for the DNA test results to be inaccurate in this case.

ISSUE V

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMIT COLLATERAL CRIME EVIDENCE? (Restated)

Murray argues that the evidence related to his escape from jail after the murder was improper propensity evidence. The State respectfully disagrees. Evidence related to the escape established consciousness of guilt. This Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that, when there are other pending charges, the State cannot introduce evidence of flight because the defendant could have been fleeing from the other charges. Moreover, this testimony was necessary to establish the context in which Murray confessed. Murray admitted his forcing the victim to perform oral sex on him and his involvement with the murder to his co-escapee. Thus, the trial court properly admitted the evidence of escape.

The trial court's ruling

Counsel filed a motion in limine to exclude this evidence arguing that the evidence of escape and the evidence of the false identification cards was propensity evidence. (V. 3 401-402). Prior to the testimony of Ms. Freeland, defense counsel moved to exclude her testimony regarding Murray's escape as not relevant because it occurred two years after the murder and because no Williams rule notice was given as required. (V. 35 1572-1573). The trial court noted that in fact a Williams rule notice was filed and probably was not even required. (V. 35 1574). The prosecutor explained that the evidence of escape was being introduced as consciousness of guilt and to establish the facts surrounding Murray's confession to his co-escapee. (1574-1575). The trial

court ruled that it was evidence of flight (1578). Defense counsel then argued that the State could not prove what charge he was in flight from because Murray had a violation of probation also. (1579-1580). The trial court explained counsel could make that argument to the jury and defense counsel stated that he couldn't do that. (1582). While the escape was two years after the murder, it was only six months from his indictment until his escape. (1588) The trial court ruled the testimony was admissible. (Vol 35 1588) The State presented the testimony of FBI Special Agent Kearns, who was involved in the recapture of Murray in Las Vegas. (V. 36 1727-1731). He testified that when he arrested Murray, Murray had a check cashing card and a social security card in the name of Doyle White on him. Counsel objected but he did not state the basis of his objection. (V. 36 1729). The FBI agent testified that he had both a federal and a state warrant. (V. 36 1728).

Preservation

This issue regarding the testimony of an escape is preserved. Counsel properly objected and obtained a standing objection to the testimony from the trial court. (V. 35 1576,1589). Counsel renewed his objected to this evidence when it was introduced. (V. 36 1729). Thus, this issue is preserved.

The standard of review

The admission of evidence, including evidence of flight, is within the trial court's discretion and will not be reversed unless there is an abuse of discretion. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 970, 982 (Fla. 1999).

<u>Merits</u>

When a suspected person in any manner attempts to escape or evade a threatened prosecution by flight, concealment, resistance to lawful arrest, or other indications after the fact of a desire to evade prosecution, such fact is admissible because it is relevant to establish consciousness of guilt. Thomas v. State, 748 So.2d 970 (Fla. 1999); Cf. <u>Illinois v. Wardlow</u>, - U.S. -, 120 S.Ct. 673, 145 L.Ed.2d 570 (2000) (holding flight in a high crime area was enough to justify a <u>Terry</u> stop). Appellant argues that the evidence is not admissible because an escape two years after the murder or six months after being jailed proves appellant's state of mind after the murder which is not at issue. However, in Taylor v. State, 630 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1993), the co-perpetrator's case, this Court held that evidence Taylor planned to escape was admissible. This Court explained that evidence that a suspected person endeavors to evade prosecution "by any ex post facto" indication to evade prosecution is admissible. Such evidence is relevant to establish a consciousness of quilt. Thus, this Court has held that escape plans are admissible even though the escape occurs after the crime. Moreover, here, while the escape was two years after the murders, it was merely six months after the indictment.

This Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that when the there are other pending charges, the State cannot introduce evidence of flight because the defendant could have been fleeing from the other charges. Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9, 20 (Fla.1985) (rejecting the argument that the state must prove that the flight was due to the guilty knowledge of the defendant of the crime for which he is on trial to the exclusion of any other explanation for the flight and

unless the state can show that there is no other reason to flee); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla.1990) (classifying a reasonable inference that Duest escaped as а result consciousness of quilt of the murder rather than the pending Massachusetts misdemeanor charges); Shellito v. State, 701 So.2d 837, 701 (Fla. 1997) (stating that the "law is well settled that evidence of flight is admissible as being relevant to infer consciousness of guilt"); But see Merritt v. State, 523 So.2d 573 (Fla. 1988) (finding that evidence of flight was erroneously introduced because the flight occurred three years after the crime but the flight occurred after the commission of unrelated crimes in other states following the commission of the Florida crime). It is reasonable to assume that Murray escaped to avoid both the murder prosecution and the violation of probation. Randall v. State, 760 So.2d 892, 900 (Fla. 2000) (finding no error in the trial court's admission of the evidence of Randall's flight, which was relevant infer consciousness of guilt and explaining that it reasonable to infer that Randall fled to avoid prosecution for both murders as well as the Massachusetts probation violation); Shellito v. State, 701 So.2d 837, 840 (Fla. 1997) (explaining that the fact that a defendant has committed more than one crime within a short period of time does not preclude introduction of the evidence of flight and rejecting the argument that the State failed to prove that he fled to avoid prosecution for the murder rather than for the robberies and concluding that the fact that Shellito committed several robberies during the brief period of time between the murder and the raid does not prevent a jury from hearing evidence regarding his flight); Freeman v. State, 547 So.2d 125, 128 (Fla.

1989) (finding evidence of an escape attempt, including providing a false name upon apprehension, admissible because he attempted to elude prosecution for both). Murray's claim that he found out that his hair matched earlier during Taylor's trial and would have fled then if he had a guilty conscious is a jury argument, not a legal reason to exclude relevant evidence.

Appellant's reliance on <u>Czubak v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1990), is misplaced. During the cross-examination of a "key state witness", the witness referred to the fact that Czubak was an escaped convict. Because this evidence was not relevant to any material fact in issue, the evidence was inadmissible and this Court remanded for a new trial. However, the <u>Czubak</u> Court specifically stated that "[e]vidence of collateral crimes, wrongs, or acts committed by the defendant is admissible if it is relevant to a material fact in issue; such evidence is not admissible where its sole relevance is to prove the character or propensity of the accused." Here, by contrast, the testimony relating to the escape was admissible to establish both consciousness of guilt and the context of Murray's confession to his co-escapee. Thus, <u>Czubak</u> is inapposite.

<u>Harmless Error</u>

Moreover, any error in the admission of this testimony is harmless. The <u>Czubak</u> Court held that the erroneous admission was not harmless because the case against Czubak was largely circumstantial. While DNA is also circumstantial evidence, it is strong, scientific evidence of guilt. The general rule is that the erroneous admission of collateral crime evidence is presumptively

harmful. Czubak v. State, 570 So.2d 925, 928 (Fla.1990) (admission of the fact that defendant was an escaped convicted but not what crime he was convicted of committing). However, the rule that collateral crime evidence is presumptively harmful is only true depending on the seriousness of the collateral crime. If a jury improperly hears evidence of a nonviolent misdemeanor, they will not convict a defendant for a serious violent felony based on the minor collateral crime. Here, the jury heard evidence of an escape, an nonviolent felony. They would not have convicted a defendant of the brutal first degree murder and sentenced Murray to death based on his propensity to escape. In other words, at worst, the only propensity this evidence established was a propensity to escape, it does not establish a propensity to commit murder or any other violent felony. This is also true of the possession of fake identification cards. It at most, establishes a propensity to engage in white collar type, administrative crimes, not burglary, rape and murder. Thus, the error, if any, was harmless.

ISSUE VI

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENY THE MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE DNA EVIDENCE WHERE THE HAIR WAS CONSUMED BY THE TEST? (Restated)

Murray claims that when the evidence is consumed in testing, the introduction of test results violates due process. The State disagrees. This Court has held that there is no prosecutorial duty to preserve a sample for additional testing by the defense. Moreover, while the record is not clear, there does seem to be additional hair available for defense testing. Thus, the trial court properly denied the motion to exclude the DNA evidence.⁴

The trial court's ruling

Murray filed a motion to preserve the hair samples prior to trial. (V. 4 620). Murray also filed a motion to exclude the DNA test results because the hair was consumed by the tests. (V. 4 759). The motion referred to any earlier order by a previous judge which instructed the State to "use as little of it as reasonably possible and try to preserve whatever surplus may remain". The trial court denied the motion. (R. V. 4 761). During the <u>Frye</u> hearing, the State's DNA expert testified that prior to performing any tests, he spoke with the prosecutor on August 26th, 1997 (V. 18 3386-3387). The DNA expert informed the prosecutor that there was a "very limited sample". (V. 18 3386). The prosecutor told him to

⁴ Murray also seems to be arguing an independent claim that this is error merely because the trial court's order may have been violated. However, the trial court did not hold the prosecutor in contempt and did not seem to view the prosecutor's actions as a violation of its order. Murray has no standing to contest the trial court's declining to hold the prosecutor in contempt. Thus, the only real issue is the due process claim.

use as much as needed to obtain as much information and as reliable results as possible. He then performed the preliminary test, doing two amplifications, using half the sample. (V. 18 3386). He then called the prosecutor and informed him that the preliminary tests matched the previous DNA tests and asked the prosecutor to obtain blood sample to compare the remaining DNA with the DNA of the victim, Taylor and appellant. The expert testified that "it is not possible for me to have the DNA to turn over to the defense." (V. 18 3388). Prior to the DNA expert's testimony, while counsel renewed his <u>Frye</u> objection and his tampering objection, he did not move to exclude the DNA based on the fact the State had consumed the evidence in testing. (V. 33 1156). While the record is not clear, there does seem to be additional hair available for defense testing. (V. 32 1098, 1109-1111). Indeed, the prosecutor at one point referred to a box with other hairs. (V. 32 1005-1006, 1019).

Preservation

This issue is not preserved. Even when a motion in limine has been filed and denied by the trial court, a defendant waives his challenge to admission of evidence where defendant fails to renew objection at trial. Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla.1988) Thus, the issue is not preserved.

The standard of review

The standard of review is *de novo*. <u>United States v. Cooper</u>, 983 F.2d 928, 931 (9th Cir. 1993) (noting appellate court reviews *de novo* district court's determination that government's failure to

preserve potentially exculpatory evidence violated due process rights).

Merits

This Court has rejected a due process claim based on the inability to independently test a blood sample because the State did not preserve the sample. Houser v. State, 474 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1985) (holding that due process is not violated and the evidence derived from scientific analysis of blood is admissible even though state does not preserve a blood sample for further analysis). The Houser Court noted that there is no prosecutorial duty to preserve the sample for additional testing by the defense. The Houser Court explained that an accused's due process right to attack the credibility of the results of the tests is preserved by cross-examination and the extreme sanction of suppression is unnecessary. The Houser Court relied on the rationale of California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984).

In <u>Trombetta</u>, 467 U.S. 479, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held that the policy of not preserving breath samples so that a defendant could challenge the results of a breathalyzer test did not violate due process. Later, in <u>Arizona v. Youngblood</u>, 488 U.S. 51, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988), the United States Supreme Court held that due process was not violated when semen samples were not tested using the newest method and clothing was destroyed due to the lack of refrigeration. <u>Trombetta</u> applies if the exculpatory value of the evidence is apparent before the evidence was destroyed. <u>Youngblood</u> applies if the exculpatory value of the evidence is not apparent.

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